
FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

1

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF CHATHAM
COUNTY, GEORGIA, HELD ON FRIDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2004, IN THE COMMISSION
MEETING ROOM ON THE SECOND FLOOR OF THE CHATHAM COUNTY COURTHOUSE,
LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE BUILDING, 124 BULL STREET, SAVANNAH, GEORGIA.

I.   CALL TO ORDER

Chairman Billy Hair called the meeting to order at 9:30 a.m., Friday, September 10, 2004.

============

II.  INVOCATION

Commissioner Frank Murray gave the invocation.

============

III.  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

All pledged allegiance to the flag of the United States of America.  

============

IV.  ROLL CALL

The Clerk called the roll.

PRESENT: Dr. Billy B. Hair, Chairman
Dr. Priscilla D. Thomas, Vice Chairman, District Eight
Frank G. Murray, Chairman Pro Tem, District Four
Jeffrey D. Rayno, District One
John J. McMasters, District Three
Harris Odell, Jr., District Five
David M. Gellatly, District Six
B. Dean Kicklighter, District Seven

ABSENT: Joe Murray Rivers, District Two

IN ATTENDANCE: R. E. Abolt, County Manager
R. Jonathan Hart, County Attorney
Sybil E. Tillman, County Clerk

============

YOUTH COMMISSIONERS

Chairman Hair introduced the following Youth Commissioners who were in attendance: Ashley Jackson, Chairperson, a
Senior at St. Vincent’s Academy; Lissy Isaacson, Vice Chairperson, a Junior at Savannah Country Day and represents
the Jewish Education Alliance; and Catherine Cornelius, Secretary, a Senior at Jenkins High School.

============



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

2

V.  PROCLAMATIONS AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS   

1. CHATHAM COUNTY YOUTH COMMISSION SWEARING-IN CEREMONY.

Chairman Hair said, I’m going to call on Dr. Thomas to introduce this topic.

Commissioner Thomas said, good morning.  We’re delighted to have with us this morning the Chatham County Youth
Commission and we’re delighted to be able to swear in those who will be joining us for the first time, and at this time I’d
also like to call —, where’s Mr. Johnson?  Oh, there he is.  He’s already at the podium —, to bring brief remarks.

Mr. Van Johnson said, good morning, Dr. Thomas and gentlemen.  This is an occasion, an annual occasion that we look
forward to on the Chatham County calendar, the day when we present to you our newest addition of the Chatham County
Youth Commission.  This is an organization that continues to afford you statewide and national attention for your willingness
to make an investment in the future of youth in this community by providing them the opportunity to become well-rounded
productive citizens.  These 43 people, like the 350 before them, will meet our challenge, exceed our expectations and
make things happen in this community.  If you just simply look at the latest issue of Georgia County magazine you will see
in a feature story the Chatham County Youth Commission, your Chatham County Youth Commission, Dr. Thomas’ vision
and your support for all 159 counties in this State to see.  MEV has a reality television show called “Making the Band.”
During this show participants are going through various assignments in order to make the band.   Such was the case this
year as we accepted over 50 nominations and put these young people to test in order to make the Youth Commission.
They researched county government, participated in community events, wore hard white T-shirts, and today we present
to you, in addition to our 16 returning Youth Commissioners, 27 new young people who have done better than make the
band, they have made the Youth Commission.

Mr. Johnson said, as Judge Louisa Abbot and as our County Manager Russ Abolt told these young people on Wednesday,
this is a serious responsibility.  We take it seriously, we are investing in them and we believe in them.  They’re already
politically astute and savvy.  They already know the rules.  They understand protocol.  They know, for example, that under
no circumstances, no circumstances, no circumstances should they ever laugh at any New York Yankee or New York Knicks
joke that the County Manager makes about their Director and their good friend.  Right?  And they know that while he’s an
excellent County Manager, he fails miserably in the comedy department.  County Manager Abolt said, true, true.  Mr.
Johnson said, and while they realize this is a serious effort, it is also a labor of fun and of love.  In addition to the support
of Mr. Abolt and Mr. Kaigler, I have several colleagues that give of themselves to inspire, educate and encourage our youth:
Debra Allen, our outstanding Public Information Director Mr. Pete Nichols, and our newest staff members, Sandra Smalls
and Bonnie Taylor.  And last, but certainly not least, we thank the parents, the grandparents, the guardians, the godparents,
who entrust these young people to their Chatham County godparents, stepbrothers and stepsisters.  Would all the parents
of these young people in here today, and family members, please stand.   As you can see, there’s a lot of support here for
these young people. 

Mr. Johnson said, I proudly present to you the apprentices that we will all hire at the end of 2004-2005 school year, the
2004-2005 Chatham County Youth Commission.  As I call your name, please stand.

Chairperson: 
Ashley Jackson, a Senior, St. Vincent’s Academy, second term

Vice Chairperson:
Lissy Isaacson, Jewish Educational Alliance, a Junior, Savannah Country Day, second term

Secretary:
Catherine Cornelius, a Senior, Jenkins High School, second term

Parliamentarian:
Alex Salter, a Senior, Bible Baptist, second term

Executive Members: 
Ms. Jhamia Allen, a Junior, Jenkins High School, second term
Chantel Flowers, Educational Talent Search, Beach High School, a Junior, second term
Jameel Syed, Windsor Forest High School, a Senior, third term

Members:
Courtney Andrews, Summer Bonanza, Groves High School, a Junior
Akhol Anumolu, representing the Indian Association, Jenkins High School, a Sophomore
Shanika Bass, Windsor Forest High School, a Junior
Katherine Blackburn, Savannah Country Day, a Sophomore
Kevina Bland, Savannah High School, a Junior
Samuel Boyd, Jr., Beach High School, a Junior
Logan Bryan, St. Vincent’s Academy, a Junior
Kyle Burnsed, Savannah Arts Academy, a Junior
Kandice Butler, Johnson High School, a Sophomore
N’Gia Conyers, Johnson High School, a Sophomore



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

3

Danielle Cummings, Jenkins High School, a Sophomore
Clarissa Davis, Johnson High School, a Senior
Tahira Davis, St. Vincent’s Academy, a Junior
Stephanie Edwards, Windsor Forest High School, a Sophomore
Jasmine Gusby, Jenkins High School, a Sophomore
Whitney Hawthorne, Beach High School, a Sophomore
Tiyanna Hurst, Johnson High School, a Senior
William Jackson, Groves High School, a Junior
Garth Marchant, Beach High School, a Junior
O’Veigh McArthur, representing Upward Bound at Groves High School, a Junior
Iris Miller, representing SEACAPP at Groves High School, a Junior
Akeem Mitchell, Jenkins High School, a Junior
Jessica Morse, Jenkins High School, a Senior
Amanda Newman, representing 4-H Program at Savannah Arts Academy, a Senior
Arnecia Newman, Jenkins High School, a Sophomore
Calvin Owens, Groves High School, a Sophomore
Kirsten Pratt, Jenkins High School, a Sophomore
Cheree Shipman, Beach High School, a Junior
Antwan Smalls, Groves High School, a Junior
Kirsten Smith, Johnson High School, a Sophomore
Leslie Walker, Bible Baptist, a Senior
Ashley Washington, representing Upward Bound at Jenkins High School, a Junior
Stephen Watson, a Junior and the first student representing the Riley Learning Center
Katie Watters, Savannah Christian, a Junior
Leslie Weaver, Windsor Forest High School, a Sophomore
Tony Wright, Savannah High School, a Senior

Mr. Johnson said, ladies and gentlemen, the 2004-2005 Chatham County Youth Commission.  Dr. Hair, Dr. Thomas, if
you’ll come down to administer the oath of office.

Chairman Hair said, I’m going to ask you to raise your right hand and repeat after me.  Chairman Hair then administered
the following oath of office to the Youth Commissioners:

I, (state your name), a citizen of the State of Georgia and of the United States, and a member
of the Chatham County Youth Commission, do hereby solemnly swear or affirm that I will
support the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the State of Georgia, that
I will honestly and faithfully perform the duties assign to me, and that I will at all times abide by
and conform to the laws, ordinances and rules and regulations approved by the Chatham
County Commissioners.   So help me God.

Chairman Hair said, congratulations.

Ms. Ashley Jackson said, good morning.  I feel a bit overwhelmed, but full of joy as we stand here on the brink of a new
year.  To the Chatham County Commissioners, I don’t think you realize how grateful and thankful we are for this program.
It has benefitted the lives of so many youth in this area, including those you see before you.  Thank you for your support of
this program and for your continued efforts to keep afloat.  I would like to personally invite you to our Town Hall Meeting on
September 21st.  This is the first time that we have ever tried anything like this, but we believe that it will be a success.  As
you have taken the lead in supporting and encouraging us, we hope that on September 21st we will be able to look on that
stage and see our Chairman, Vice Chairman, and our Districts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7.  There you will hear the thoughts and
ideas from the youth in your community as they attempt to publicly and professionally voice their opinions about their home.
Dr. Thomas, words cannot express how we feel about you and your constant presence and love.  As you say that you’re
always a part of us, I must tell you that I was so proud of you on August 1st when the NAACP and the Civil Rights Museum
honored you and I was even more proud of you on August 28th when you celebrated your 50th wedding anniversary and
renewed your wedding vows.  You are constantly giving us examples to follow.  On behalf of the Youth Commission I would
also like to thank the family and friends who support us, care for us and chauffeur us around.  Without you, much of what
we do would be kind of hard.  To our new Youth Commissioners, plaudits to you.  You have now earned the right to enter
a program that I guarantee will change your life in just a matter of time.  Take advantage of all it has to offer you and all you
have to offer it.  We take this program seriously and we make it a priority in our lives and we ask that you take it seriously
and make it a priority in your lives because as Mr. Abolt told us on Wednesday, this program is giving us an edge and
nowadays we all need an edge.  Thank you for allowing me the challenge of leading you into this new year.  Thank you.

Commissioner Thomas said, thank you, Ashley [Jackson], and thank you, Mr. Johnson, and all of the staff members who
have worked so hard.  We want to congratulate those who have taken the oath this morning and we know that you are going
to provide the leadership necessary to do a good job.  I just want to reemphasize very quickly to the Commissioners, we
know if your schedule will allow you, we are hoping and praying that you will be able to participate with this Youth Town Hall
Meeting which is scheduled for the 21st of September at 6:00 p.m., and it’s going to be held at the Savannah Civic Center
in the Johnny Mercer Theater.  Let’s all work together and see if we can give these young people an additional edge.
Thank you.



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

4

Chairman Hair said, thank you, Dr. Thomas.  And, again, as I have said many times, we all owe a debt of gratitude to Dr.
Thomas.  This has been her dream from the very beginning and to see this thing now even expand nationally is a credit
to our Vice Chairman and we can’t say enough nice things about her.  She’s touched so many lives, not just over the years
in education, but certainly since the Youth Commission.  And, Dr. Thomas, we sincerely appreciate the wonderful job you’ve
done.

============

VI.  CHAIRMAN'S ITEMS

1. CABLE ACCESS COORDINATOR POSITION AND IMPROVED ORGANIZATIONAL
ARRANGEMENT.

As we discussed in the pre-meeting, the Cable Access Coordinator position, basically what we’re recommending is that
to improve organizational improvement, or to improve organizational development, we are suggesting that the Cable
Access Coordinator position be moved from the Commissioners’ budget and under the Commissioners’ supervision to
the County Manager’s budget and the County Manager’s supervision.  I think this will greatly increase communication.  I’ll
entertain a motion to approve.

Commissioner Murray said, move for approval.  Chairman Hair asked, second?  Commissioner Kicklighter said, second.
Chairman Hair asked, discussion?  All those in favor vote yes, opposed vote no.  The motion carried unanimously.  [NOTE:
Commissioner Rivers was not present.]  Chairman Hair said, the motion passes.

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner Murray moved that the Cable Access Coordinator position be realigned from the County Commissioners’
budget to Special Projects (Land Bank/Surplus Property) under the County Manager’s supervision.  Commissioner
Kicklighter seconded the motion and it carried unanimously. [NOTE: Commissioner Rivers was not present.]

============

2. SCHEDULING A MEETING WITH THE STATE LEGISLATIVE DELEGATION.

Chairman Hair said, the next is to schedule a meeting with the State Legislative Delegation.  We generally get a request
from the delegation to try to do it as early in the year as possible.  I’m going to suggest some time the third week of
October.

Commissioner Rayno asked, how about the 18th, on Monday.  Dean [Kicklighter] can [inaudible] —.  Chairman Hair asked,
that’s the 18th of October?  Commissioner Rayno asked, would that be good, Dean [Kicklighter]?  Commissioner
Kicklighter said, that would be great.  Chairman Hair said, 18th.  What day of the week is that, Commissioner Rayno?
Commissioner Rayno said, it’s a Monday.  

Chairman Hair said, Monday.  And —, Monday, October 18th, and that will be —, we normally do it at 12:00 Noon here in
the Chambers.  Anybody want to change that or anything?  Mr. Abolt, if would you make sure that that letter is prepared
to Mr. Bordeaux for my signature and I’ll be glad to sign it this afternoon.  County Manager Abolt said, yes sir.  We’ll also
give you a copy of last year’s legislative program for your review. Chairman Hair said, yes, the 18th at 12:00 Noon.  So that
sets that.

============

3. MILLIONAIRE’S CASINO TEMPORARY SPECIAL USE PARKING PERMIT PENDING
REDESIGN.

Chairman Hair said, again as I explained in the pre-meeting, they basically —, it’s going to take them six to eight weeks
to finish the parking and they’re willing to limit the capacity to meet the existing parking until they get that approved, and
this is in accordance with our existing ordinance.  I recommend approval.  I need a —.

Commissioner Kicklighter said, move for approval.  Chairman Hair asked, second?   Commissioner Odell said, second.

Commissioner Murray asked, could we get comments by the County Attorney on —.  Chairman Hair said, Mr. Hart.
Certainly.



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

5

County Attorney Hart said, what’s essentially happening here is that there’s a restaurant and it has a requirement for a
number of parking —, the restaurant has present parking that far exceeds the County ordinance and requirements.  These
people are willing to back out the previous right-of-way parking requirements, and even when you do that, there is more
parking than is needed for the restaurant and so there is an excess amount of parking, which Gregori Anderson has
calculated above that, and basically these people are willing to hold down the number of passengers on the boat to fit the
parking requirements.  So if there’s 50 extra spaces, then under the formula they’re going to be limited to how many people
could use the 50 spaces.  And it’s sort of a temporary measure until they can come up with a design.

Chairman Hair said, and they will be submitting the form of the [inaudible] to the Coast Guard.

Commissioner Murray said, Jon [Hart], correct me if I’m wrong, but the way I understand it is where that ramp touches the
boat, that’s where Chatham County loses any jurisdiction.  Is that correct?  County Attorney Hart said, that’s —, yes sir,
that’s 99% correct.  It may be, you know, one minor exception here or there, but if the boat’s on navigable waters of the
United States, it’s either a Corps of Engineers issue or it is a Coast Guard issue, and we really don’t have jurisdiction under
our local ordinance to regulate a vessel on navigable waters.  Commissioner Murray said, all right.  And —, so we have
no say-so about the boat tied up at the dock?  County Attorney Hart said, correct.  Commissioner Murray asked, and if this
was not approved, there is a lounge in the restaurant; therefore, the people can go to that lounge, as they would anyway,
and be shuttled to the boat and the boat could still leave, so it’s not going to stop the boat from operating?  County Attorney
Hart said, correct.  Commissioner Murray said, that’s the way I understood it.  County Attorney Hart said, correct.  

Commissioner Kicklighter asked, and may I add a little to that?  Chairman Hair recognized Commissioner Kicklighter.
Commissioner Kicklighter asked, do we have a —, any legal means whatsoever if they meet all requirements through the
Police Department and Coast Guard and all that stuff, do we have any means whatsoever to tell them whether or not they
can serve alcohol?  County Attorney Hart said, no sir.  If they —, if they meet all the requirements of the ordinance —, under
our Alcohol Ordinance they are entitled as a matter of law to serve that alcohol, as long as they’re doing it on the boat and
as long as the boat isn’t permanently affixed to that dock or some landward side instruments permanently affixed to the
land, you know, we would have the right in that situation, which is not the case here, to regulate what happens on the land
side, say, parking or public restrooms or things like that, but we don’t have that case here.  Commissioner Kicklighter said,
thank you.

Commissioner Rayno asked, can we develop a long term solution so that we can regulate a ship that ties up —.  Chairman
Hair said, I think, as we discussed in pre-meeting, it won’t affect this boat, but I think in the pre-meeting we asked the staff
to look at it —.  Commissioner Rayno said, I said long term.  Chairman Hair said, — and maybe suggest amending the
ordinance to include excursion boats and that sort of thing.  I think that would be appropriate.

County Attorney Hart said, that’s correct.  We don’t have any regulations right now that cover excursion boats and the only
regulatory means we have at the present time is to sort of classify them as restaurants.

Chairman Hair recognized Commissioner Murray.

Commissioner Murray said, one more question just for clarification.  If everything that you have said to answer the questions
we’ve asked so far, the license is being issued to the boat.  Is that right?  County Attorney Hart said, yes sir, or the business
owner.  Commissioner Murray said, all right.  So I guess what I’m seeing right now is I don’t see where there’s even a
license necessary.  County Attorney Hart said, well, we still have —, if they’re going to use parking, and parking is required
there, you know, that involves our land, so we’re going to make them meet the parking requirements and the other things
that deal with the land.  If they meet that, then they’re in good shape.

Chairman Hair said, we have a motion and second.  All those in favor vote yes, opposed vote no.  Chairman Hair and
Commissioners McMasters, Murray, Odell, Gellatly and Kicklighter voted in favor of the motion. Commissioner Rayno voted
in opposition.  The motion carried by a vote of six to one. [NOTE: Commissioners Rivers and Thomas were not present
when this vote was taken.]

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner Kicklighter moved to approve a temporary special use parking permit for the gambling boat at William’s
Seafood pending redesign of the parking lot.   Commissioner Odell seconded the motion.  Chairman Hair and
Commissioners McMasters, Murray, Odell, Gellatly and Kicklighter in favor of the motion. Commissioner Rayno voted in
opposition.  The motion carried by a vote of six to one.  [NOTE: Commissioners Rivers and Thomas were not present when
this vote was taken.]

============

VII.  COMMISSIONERS' ITEMS

1. C AND A SERVICES (COMMISSIONER RAYNO).  Postponed from August 27, 2004,
meeting.



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

6

Chairman Hair recognized Commissioner Rayno.

Commissioner Rayno said, I don’t see any of the people here so I’m dropping it from the agenda.

Chairman Hair said, okay, it will be dropped and will not be added back, okay, unless you want to add it in the future.
Commissioner Rayno said, yes sir, thank you. 

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

For failure of the individuals involved to appear, this item was removed from the agenda by Commissioner Rayno.

============

2. RECORDER’S COURT JUDGE (COMMISSIONER ODELL). 

Commissioner Odell said, as most of you know, Judge Burke moved from judge of the Recorder’s Court to Juvenile Court
judge.  The impact of that is that now we have a vacancy in the Recorder’s Court.  The City Council and I think the County
Attorney would come up with a plan as to how this can be done.  My recommendation is that we have a joint committee
between the County Commission and the City Council and, failing our reaching a resolution or a joint recommendation,
and if we’re unable to do so, it goes to Superior Court, but I think that we have an obligation to see if we first can meet with
the City Council and come up with a joint recommendation, so my motion therefore is that we meet with the City Council
by subcommittee of this Commission to see if we can jointly come up with a name of a person to replace Judge Burke or
to fill the Recorder’s Court position.  

Chairman Hair asked, does that motion have a second?  Commissioner McMasters said, question.  Commissioner Odell
asked, could I get a second please.  Commissioner McMasters said, after the second.  Commissioner Odell asked, it has
no second?  Commissioner Gellatly said, I’ll second it.  Chairman Hair said, okay, we have a second.  Chairman Hair
recognized Commissioner McMasters.

Commissioner McMasters said, this is —, thank you, Billy [Hair].  Harris [Odell], you’re suggesting now that we appoint a
committee that comes back with one name?  Commissioner Odell said, right, a joint recommendation.  Yes.
Commissioner McMasters said, that wasn’t my understanding in the pre-meeting is that the County would develop a name
and the City would develop a name and it might very well be the same name, but now you’re talking about, if I understand
it correctly, one committee that’s part City, part County and they bring back only one name.

Chairman Hair said, if I can clarify.  As I suggested in the pre-meeting and this was clearly discussed in the pre-meeting,
we talked about there would be three Commissioners, three Aldermen, they would take applications, they would take
interviews and they would recommend a name.  That’s exactly what we said in pre-meeting.  Commissioner Odell said,
right.  Chairman Hair said, that’s exactly what we said.  Commissioner Odell said, I’m sorry [inaudible], but that’s what we
said.

Commissioner McMasters said, well, I thought they were bringing back names, not a single name because we’ve already
—, you’ve already told us the City’s made a choice.  Commissioner Odell said, no, I haven’t told you the City’s made a
choice.  I said I think the City has a choice.  There’s a difference between having someone and declaring someone.
Commissioner McMasters said, well, that’s —, I means, it’s —, the buzz is that the City’s already made a choice, Harris
[Odell], so whether your purse the words or not —.  I’ll defer to Commissioner Kicklighter.

Chairman Hair recognized Commissioner Kicklighter.

Commissioner Kicklighter said, Mr. Chairman, this position is pretty much being heavily lobbied for.  I believe we need to
remove the politics from this appointment and vote against this motion.  This would allow the people with expertise in the
field to appoint the judge, which would be the Superior Court judges.  I just believe that they have the expertise and
knowledge and they work with these attorneys on a daily basis and they would be better at appointing a judge than a bunch
of politicians.  So I would encourage everyone to vote against this motion.

Commissioner Odell asked, may I respond?  Chairman Hair recognized Commissioner Odell.  Commissioner Odell said,
let me just respond to my fellow Commissioner from the Westside.  Dean [Kicklighter], we can get both.  It doesn’t have
to be either/or, it can be both.  We are obligated to try to resolve this.  That is our duty.  If we say without meeting with the
City that we can reach no resolution, we’ve violated our duty.  We have to meet with the City.  If the comfort level would
increase, why don’t we have a joint group come up with a name.  That name has to be approved by the majority of the
Superior Court before it comes to us.  That way it clears your —.  If it’s not, then they go back.  What I’m trying to do is, I
understand what you are saying.  What you’re saying is that you don’t practice law and put in a position to evaluate who’s
the most qualified for a judge is kind of unfair because it’s asking you to evaluate something you know very little about.
You want the public input and you want those who know to be in on the decision-making, not that it would be a out in left
field political decision.  Why then can’t we have the chair, which we’ve done in the past, appoint a committee, Mayor
Johnson has a committee appointed, they send it to the Superior Court, and it must have a majority of the Superior Court
judges, otherwise it does not come to us for consideration.  



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

7

Commissioner Kicklighter said, my opinion on that is because it’s already so political.  The City of Savannah at this
moment have —, they’ve not voted on an appointment, but from rumors they’ve already made up their mind and, you know,
people are still in the process of submitting applications.  I received a new one yesterday, and, you know, I just don’t think
at this point that qualified people are going to get a fair shake when the City of Savannah has already made up their mind
to —, who they’re going to appoint and I just think that would be a much fairer way and I think it would get a judge in that
position much faster than —, than going with that decision and possibly us deciding on someone else and ultimately the
judges would have to make the appointment anyway.

Chairman Hair said, let me just —.  Chairman Hair said, I’ll allow Commissioner Odell to respond, then myself,
Commissioner McMasters and Dr. Thomas, in that order.  Commissioner Odell said, Dean [Kicklighter], we filled the
Juvenile Court judge.  Okay?  That position was filled.  Civil process without our involvement that I’m recommending. We
filled a part-time Recorder’s Court judge.  That position was filled and it never came to this committee, and that was
deemed fair, just and honorable.  I don’t see the problem if we have two —, have representatives from both bodies, that
goes to the Superior Court judges, and they’d have to have a majority to approve it.  I don’t see —, this will be the fairest
appointment in the history of the County.  Chairman Hair said, absolutely.  Commissioner Kicklighter said, when someone’s
already made up their mind on the other side, it’s not really fair.  I mean —.  Commissioner Odell said, I don’t think they’ve
made up their mind.  They’ve just got an attractive list.  Chairman Hair said, it wouldn’t make any difference if they had
because it still has to be approved by the Superior Court, so it wouldn’t make any difference if they have made up their
mind.  Commissioner Odell said, and approved by other people.  Chairman Hair said, exactly.  Commissioner Kicklighter
said, the person they’ve made up their mind though is a good law-abiding citizen, so I see no reason to vote against that
person, but I’m just saying making up your mind before, you know, before the applications are even in, to me that’s not a
fair process.

Chairman Hair said, here’s the order: myself, Commissioner McMasters, Dr. Thomas, Commissioner Murray, and Mr. Hart.
Okay?  You want to go first, Mr. Hart?  Before me?  County Attorney Hart said, I don’t want to go —, I’ll go wherever I’m told
to go.  Chairman Hair said, okay.  County Attorney Hart said, but —.  Chairman Hair said, that’s why he’s survived for seven
years.  County Attorney Hart said, that’s —, I want to make sure that everybody understands where the law is on this.
Recorder’s Court of Chatham County is kind of a unique court in that it’s half County, half City and it was formed by a
constitutional amendment.  If you go to the Georgia Code and you look that up, there’s a whole bunch of law on municipal
courts, but this is sort of a semi-hybrid court created by the Constitution.  We believe that most of provisions of municipal
courts are applicable to the county courts, and I say all that by background in that back in 1992 the late Judge Lionel Drew
withdrew for health reasons and there had to be a filling of a vacancy at that point.  At that time the County Attorney was
the late George Chamlee and, in concert with the City Attorney, rendered an opinion of the process that this —, that should
be followed.  Subsequent to that, when this came up this last time, the County Attorney’s staff went back and looked at it
without having looked at this opinion and came to the exact same conclusion that was in this opinion.  The way this thing
works is it’s a joint court, which means the City has a say-so and the County has a say-so.  How it happened last time is
exactly as Commissioner Odell described.  There was a subcommittee on the City, there was a subcommittee on the
County, they looked at the people, they looked at the resumes, they narrowed the bunch, made a joint recommendation
and the vacancy was filled.  The law is very clear under your Enabling Act, you have a responsibility, and Commissioner
Odell is correct about this, this issue is before you and this is an issue that by law you have an obligation to help decide.
Therefore, you need to help decide this issue.  That process was followed last time and it worked.  I think you owe it to
yourselves, you owe it as a part of your public duty to at least attempt to fill this vacancy if you choose to fil itl.  You really
have two options: don’t fill it or fill it.  This court is the most busy court by far in this County and I don’t think just from an
administrative standpoint that this position can go unfilled, and I don’t think you could find a lawyer in Chatham County that
would disagree with that statement of fact.  You can fill it.  If it’s not filled or y’all can’t reach an agreement and deadlocked,
somebody could take it into Superior Court and ask the Superior Court judges to try to decide that, but they may do a
couple of different things.   They may say, number one, it’s not a justiciable issue that we have the right, because it’s not
provided for, it’s not clear in the law; number two, we will decide it; number three, we may ask for a special election.  But
you’re not at that point yet.  Y’all have an obligation to go ahead through some mechanism here and try to decide and try
to reach a resolution on this vacancy.  That failing, then these other options come into play.

Chairman Hair said, thank you.  I’m going to make —, here’s the order again: myself, Commissioner McMasters, Dr.
Thomas, and Commissioner Murray.  I think that we have an obligation to make this appointment.  We all took an oath of
office that we would not avoid our responsibility.  This is a clear case of being a political year and we want to avoid, you
know, getting ourselves out there and having to take a stand for or against a person.  Clearly, we should follow
Commissioner Odell’s recommendation.  We’ve already heard from the County Attorney that we have an obligation to do
this, and to send this to Superior Court is saying we don’t —, it’s a too —, the potato’s too hot for us, we don’t want this hot
potato so we’re going to dump it in the Superior Court’s lap; we don’t want to be man enough and woman enough to stand
up here and to do what is right, to do what the law says we ought to do and make a recommendation and let the chips fall
where they will.  

Chairman Hair recognized Commissioner McMasters.

Commissioner McMasters said, thank you.  The fact of the matter is, while it is as the County Attorney suggested vital that
this process go forward and that this is an incredibly busy court, is it not true that the judge pro tems are operating this court
on a day to day basis?  County Attorney Hart said, yes sir, there are judge pro tems that are assisting the remaining judge.
Commissioner McMasters said so this busy court removes forward quite nicely with a series of judge pro tems to handle
the case load.  On Monday the basic word was that the City had pretty much already decided on Tammy Cox, it was —,
the votes were lined up.  Now we can purse our language and say that, well, they haven’t officially taken their vote, but we
all know that the politics are in place.  The City made a choice on Monday.  Have they officially recognized and affirmed



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

8

that?  No.  On Tuesday I received a resume, on Wednesday I received an E-mail from Kevin Street, and on Thursday I
received another resume.  So where is the due process going on with the City, Harris [Odell], for the people that expressed
interest on Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday when they made a decision for Tammy [Cox] on Monday?  

Commissioner Odell said, I’d like to answer that.  Misuse of term.  There’s a presumption that due process has not been
followed.  I don’t speak for the City.  If the City wants to pay me to be their City Attorney, then I’ll personally consider that,
but we’ve done it this way.  Frank [Murray] was on the committee, I was on the committee, we appointed Burke.  Burke was
appointed to [inaudible].  I could continue to answer, but —.

Commissioner McMasters said, let me —, let me return to the last spot here.  We’re talking about forming committees,
and this Commission has not made its mind up, I can tell that —.  Commissioner Odell said, right.  Commissioner
McMasters said, — but we all know the City’s made up it’s mind so isn’t this a bit of a charade that we’re joining up to form
a committee when one side has already made up their mind?  Commissioner Odell said, three sides.  Two sides have not.
Superior Court has not and the County has not.  Commissioner McMasters said, but before it goes to Superior Court, it
comes from the City and the County to Superior Court, Harris [Odell], so there’s a process that it’s only two people and then
it becomes one.  So the City should be given multiple choices.  If you want to make an amendment to your motion that the
committees will send multiple choices, with or without ranking preferably without, you know, the top three candidates,
because now we’ve got about seven candidates interested in this.  So if you’ll perfect your motion or change it to say that
we’ll send the top three without ranking on, then I can support this, but to merely limit it to one when we know the City has
politically put in place the votes for one isn’t really good process. Thank you.

Chairman Hair recognized Commissioner Thomas.

Commissioner Thomas said, thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I’ll be very brief.  I, too, served on that committee, on the last
committee that was appointed —, the judges that were appointed, and I found that our working together was very fair.  It’s
being assumed here that because the City of Savannah may or may not have made their decision —, that I do not know,
I cannot confirm that.  I have not heard that and I have not seen anything in writing.  — It does not mean that we have to
agree on that particular person.  I think we need to look at the options that we have before us or will have before us and
follow the procedure that we have followed before and hopefully the City will join in with that, but, I mean, we can’t say here
for sure that this is what they have actually done.  I don’t know.  I haven’t seen anything and I haven’t heard anything.  And
I’m going to keep a open mind myself and try to move forward in that direction.

Chairman Hair recognized Commissioner Murray.

Commissioner Murray said, yeah, we did go through this process the last time and that’s when Judge Burke was
appointed, and it was a tough process to go through because there was a lot of —, a lot of interviews and a lot of resumes
to look at, but we —, the way the process was started, we had —, we started the process and then asked anyone interested
to send in resumes, which we received.  I guess where I’m having a problem right now is if in fact, and I don’t know that they
have, but if the City has already decided who they want to recommend and we haven’t given that open process a chance
to work, then I think we have a problem with it.  But, Jon [Hart], there was another thing that maybe I misunderstood in pre-
meeting.  I thought I understood you to say that we could not recommend a special election.  County Attorney Hart said,
yeah.  The law doesn’t provide —.  Commissioner Murray said, I thought you said that so —.  County Attorney Hart said,
the law doesn’t provide for a special election, it’s clear.  I know that’s been in the paper and I know that’s been —, that’s
not the law.  That may be the preference, but that’s not the law, and the only way that I can see that that could ever be an
issue is if it got into court and some how or another the court ruled that way, and it’s unclear enough to predict what would
happen there.  Commissioner Murray said, okay.  Well, I’m glad you clarified that because I thought I hear it both ways.
No, that would —, if we could have it, the best way —, the best way to me would be have a special election.  If we can’t do
that by law, then I don’t have a problem with going through a process if this process is going to be open and if those people
that feel like they’re qualified can send their resumes in, to have them looked it and be interviewed, and then a decision
be made and move forward.  However, I do agree, and I think we did this the last time, if I remember correctly we didn’t
just narrow it down to one name, that we did this, we narrowed it down to two or three names and then the full body of the
County Commission and the City Council made the decision on the last two or three and I think they actually did interviews
too on those last two or three, so, you know, if —.  I could probably support something like that.  I just feel like we need to
move it forward, but I don’t see where we need to rush it through.  We’ve got —, we need to take our time and do it right
if we’re going to be involved in doing it.  

Chairman Hair recognized Commissioner Odell.

Commissioner Odell said, I think I’ve got something that everyone would like and that is that —.  Commissioner Murray
asked, apple pie with ice cream?  Commissioner Odell said, yes.  We have a committee from the City, we have a
committee from the County, they meet and collectively come up with three names, open the process up, the three names
are submitted to Superior Court judges unranked, Superior Court judges make a majority decision, and that comes back
to both bodies hopefully to be approved.   That would be my amended motion.  Commissioner McMasters asked, back
to both parties, meaning —.  Commissioner Murray said, City and County.  Commissioner Odell said, back to us and the
City Council.  

Chairman Hair asked, Commissioner Gellatly, you made the second, do you accept that amendment?  Commissioner
Gellatly said, yes.  Chairman Hair said, okay.  All those in favor of the motion vote yes —.



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

9

Commissioner Kicklighter said, Mr. Chairman, beings I was the one against it, I think that’s a great idea.  The comment
was made several times that we’ve always done it this way, but we know we’ve got a great nation, but things have changed
since this country first started, so there are better ways to move along, you don’t have to stay with the same old, same old,
and I believe we just took a step in the right direct.

Chairman Hair said, all those in favor vote yes, opposed vote no.  The motion carried unanimously. [NOTE: Commissioner
Rivers was not present.]

Chairman Hair said, we will not recess as the County Commission and reconvene as —.  County Attorney Hart asked,
before we do that could I just clarify the record?  The ultimate decision of this appointment will remain in the Commission
sitting —.  Chairman Hair said, correct, the bodies would have to vote.  The Superior Court would send one name back
to the County Commission and one name back to the City Council for final ratification.  Commissioner Odell said, and
hopefully it will be the same name.  Chairman Hair said, right.

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner Odell moved that the process for appointment of a Recorder’s Court judge to fill the current vacancy will
be that the County Commission will appoint a subcommittee to meet with a subcommittee appointed by the City of
Savannah to review the applications submitted by interested persons and collectively the subcommittees will select three
names to be submitted in an unranked order to the Superior Court judges for their review and selection of one name to
be sent back to the County Commission and the Savannah City Council for ratification.   Commissioner Gellatly seconded
the motion and it carried unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioner Rivers was not present.] 

============

CHATHAM AREA TRANSIT AUTHORITY

The Board recessed as the County Commission at 10:12 a.m., and reconvened as the Chatham Area Transit Authority.

The Chatham Area Transit Authority was adjourned and the Board reconvened as the County Commission at 10:50 a.m.

============

VIII.  TABLED/POSTPONED ITEMS

Unless action is contemplated at today's meeting, staff report and file material has not been duplicated in your agenda packet.
The files are available from the Clerk.  Those on which staff is requesting action are indicated by asterisk (*).

None.

============

IX.  ITEMS FOR INDIVIDUAL ACTION
(Unless the Board directs otherwise, adoption of an Action Item will mean approval of the respective County staff report and its
recommended action.)

1. REQUEST BOARD APPROVAL OF THE FOLLOWING: A TRANSFER OF $43,930 WITHIN
THE CONFISCATED ASSETS FUND FROM CNT CONTINGENCY TO THE COUNTER
NARCOTICS TEAM DEPARTMENT FOR EQUIPMENT; TRANSFERS WITHIN THE
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND OF $21,000 FROM THE MOSQUITO CONTROL
HELICOPTER PROJECT, $40,000 FROM THE BLOOMINGDALE BRIDGE PROJECT,
AND $51,000 FROM CIP SSD CONTINGENCY TO THE OLD HIGHWAY 204 BRIDGE
PROJECT; THE TRANSFER OF FUNDING IN THE AMOUNT OF $78,650 FOR THREE
DEPUTY POSITIONS FROM THE JUVENILE COURT BUDGET TO THE SHERIFF’S
DEPARTMENT; A TRANSFER OF $55,670 FROM CIP M&O CONTINGENCY FOR THE
JUVENILE COURT SECURITY IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT; REIMBURSE HENDERSON
GOLF COURSE $12,826 THROUGH THE RESERVE FOR DEDUCTIBLE ACCOUNT FOR
LIGHTNING DAMAGE TO PROPERTY; AND A TRANSFER OF $4,301 FROM GENERAL



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

10

FUND M&O CONTINGENCY TO THE COUNTY ATTORNEY BUDGET FOR PAYMENT OF
EXPENSES IN DISTRICT 1 ELECTION CHALLENGES.

Chairman Hair said, that takes us to Items for Individual Action.  The first is request Board approval of the following: a
transfer of $43,930 within the Confiscated Assets Fund from CNT Contingency to the Counter Narcotics Team department
for equipment; transfers within the Capital Improvement Fund of $21,000 from the Mosquito Control Helicopter Project,
$40,000 from the Bloomingdale Bridge project, and $51,000 from CIP SSD contingency to the Old Highway 204 Bridge
Project; the transfer of funding in the amount of $78,650 for three deputy positions from the Juvenile Court budget to the
Sheriff’s Department; a transfer of $55,670 from CIP M&O contingency for the Juvenile Court Security Improvements
Project; and reimburse Henderson Golf Course $12,826 through the Reserve for Deductible Account for lightning damage
to property.  I’ll entertain a motion to approve.

Commissioner Murray said, so moved.  Chairman Hair asked, second?  Commissioner McMasters said, second.
Chairman Hair said, all those in favor vote yes, opposed vote no.  The motion carried unanimously. [NOTE: Commissioners
Rivers and Odell were not present.]

Chairman Hair said, now the transfer of —, excuse me.  Before this vote I need to take a motion to recuse Commissioner
Rayno.  Commissioner Murray said, so moved.  Chairman Hair asked, second.  Commissioner Thomas said, second.
Chairman Hair said, all those in favor vote yes, opposed vote no.  The motion carried unanimously.  [NOTE:
Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present; Commissioner Rayno did not cast a vote.] 

Chairman Hair said, Commissioner Rayno is recused from this item:  The transfer of $4,301 from General Fund M&O
Contingency to the County Attorney budget for payment of expenses in District 1 election challenges.  I’ll entertain a motion
to approve.

Commissioner McMasters said, move for approval.  Chairman Hair asked, second?  Commissioner Kicklighter said,
second.  Chairman Hair said, all those —.

Commissioner Murray asked, what happens if we don’t approve this?  Chairman Hair said, the attorney doesn’t get paid.

Chairman Hair said, all those in favor of —.

Commissioner Thomas asked, are these —, I mean, this is something that’s, the 4,000 —?  Chairman Hair said, this is
the costs that were incurred in defending that challenge.  That’s what that was.  

The motion carried unanimously. [NOTE: Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present; Commissioner Rayno was
recused from voting.]  Chairman Hair said, the motion passes.

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner Murray moved to approve the following: a transfer of $43,930 within the Confiscated Assets Fund from CNT
Contingency to the Counter Narcotics Team department for equipment; transfers within the Capital Improvement
Fund of $21,000 from the Mosquito Control Helicopter Project, $40,000 from the Bloomingdale Bridge project, and
$51,000 from CIP SSD contingency to the Old Highway 204 Bridge Project; the transfer of funding in the amount
of $78,650 for three deputy positions from the Juvenile Court budget to the Sheriff’s Department; a transfer of
$55,670 from CIP M&O contingency for the Juvenile Court Security Improvements Project; and reimburse
Henderson Golf Course $12,826 through the Reserve for Deductible Account for lightning damage to property.
Commissioner McMasters seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and
Odell were not present.]

Commissioner Murray moved to recuse Commissioner Rayno from voting on this issue. Commissioner Thomas seconded
the motion and it carried unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present; Commissioner
Rayno did not cast a vote.]

Commissioner McMasters moved to approve the transfer of $4,301 from General Fund M&O Contingency to the County
Attorney budget for payment of expenses in District 1 election challenges.  Commissioner Kicklighter seconded
the motion and it carried unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present; Commissioner
Rayno was recused from voting.]



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

11

AGENDA ITEM:    IX-1
AGENDA DATE:  September 10, 2004

DATE: September 1, 2004

TO: Board of Commissioners

THRU: R. E. Abolt, County Manager

FROM: Linda Cramer, Finance Director

ISSUE;
To request approval of the following: a transfer of $43,930 within the Confiscated Assets Fund
from CNT Contingency to the Counter Narcotics Team department for equipment; transfers
within the Capital Improvement Fund of $21,000 from the Mosquito Control Helicopter Project,
$40,000 from the Bloomingdale Bridge project, and $51,000 from CIP SSD contingency to
the Old Highway 204 Bridge Project; the transfer of funding in the amount of $78,650 for three
deputy positions from the Juvenile Court budget to the Sheriff’s Department; a transfer of
$55,670 from CIP M&O contingency for the Juvenile Court Security Improvements Project; and
reimburse Henderson Golf Course $12,826 through the Reserve for Deductible Account for
lightning damage to property; and a transfer of $4,301 from General Fund M&O Contingency
to the County Attorney budget for payment of expenses in District 1 election challenges.

BACKGROUND:
Board approval is required for budget amendments and transfers between organizational
units.

FACTS AND FINDINGS:
1) The Counter Narcotics Team Commander has requested a transfer of $43,930 within

the Confiscated Assets Fund from CNT Contingency to the Counter Narcotics Team
department for computer equipment, audio transmitters and weapons.  Staff reports
are attached.

2) The Board of Commissioners approved the award of a contract for repairs to the
bridge on Old Highway 204 at the August 24, 2004 meeting.  The funding sources
cited included transfers within the Capitol Improvement Fund of $21,000 from the
Mosquito Control Helicopter Project, $40,000 from the Bloomingdale Bridge project,
and $51,000 from CIP SSD contingency to the Old Highway 204 Bridge Project.  This
action will confirm the funding for the repair project.

3) The Juvenile Court budget currently includes funding in the amount of $78,650 for three
deputy positions for court security.  The deputies are assigned by the Sheriff.
Administratively it would be more efficient to transfer positions and the funding to the
Sheriff’s department.  Board approval is requested.

4) The FY2005 budget request for Juvenile Court included $205,670 for security
improvements. $120,000 was identified as available in Sales Tax II.  The Board of
Commissioners approved a transfer of $30,000 from General Fund M&O Contingency
to CIP at the June 25, 2004 meeting.  A balance of $55,670 remains to fully fund the
project.  A transfer from CIP M&O Contingency is requested.

5) On June 24, 2004, Henderson Golf Course was struck by lightning which required
$12,826 for repairs and replacements.  Reimbursement through the Reserve for
Deductible Account is requested.  A staff report is attached.

6) The adopted FY2005 General Fund budget did not include funding to cover expenses
for election challenges.  A contingency transfer of $4,301 to the County Attorney budget
is requested.  A staff report is attached.

FUNDING:
Funds are in the adopted FY2005 General Fund M&O budget, the Confiscated Funds budget
and the Capital Improvement Program (CIP) budget.

ALTERNATIVES:
1) That the Board approve the following:

CONFISCATED ASSETS SPECIAL REVENUE FUND
a transfer of $43,930 from CNT Contingency to the Counter Narcotics Team
department for equipment



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

12

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM FUND
a) transfers of $21,000 from the Mosquito Control Helicopter Project, $40,000

from the Bloomingdale Bridge project, and $51,000 from CIP SSD contingency
to the Old Highway 204 Bridge Project.

b) a transfer of $55,70 from CIP M&O contingency for the Juvenile Court Security
Improvements Project.

GENERAL FUND M&O
a) the transfer of three deputy positions and funding in the amount of $78,650 from

Juvenile Court to the Sheriff’s department.

b) reimburse Henderson Golf Course $12,826 through the Reserve for Deductible
Account for lightning damage to property.

c) and a transfer of $4,301 from General Fund M&O Contingency to the County
Attorney budget for payment of expenses in District 1 election challenges.

2) Amend or deny the requests.

POLICY ANALYSIS:
State law grants the Board authority to amend the budget during the year as it deems
necessary.

RECOMMENDATION:
That the Board approve Alternative 1.

             Prepared by:      Read DeHaven

============

2. REQUEST BOARD APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION CONSENTING TO THE
DEANNEXATION OF CERTAIN PROPERTY FROM THE CITY OF BLOOMINGDALE TO
THE CITY OF POOLER FOR ANNEXATION; AND THE DEANNEXATION OF CERTAIN
PROPERTY FROM THE CITY OF POOLER TO THE CITY OF BLOOMINGDALE FOR
ANNEXATION.

Chairman Hair said, I’ll entertain a motion to approve.

Commissioner Kicklighter said, I make a motion to approve.  Chairman Hair asked, second?  Commissioner McMasters
said, second.  Chairman Hair said, all those in favor vote yes, opposed vote no.  The motion carried unanimously.  [NOTE:
Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present.] Chairman Hair said, the motion passes.

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner Kicklighter moved to approve a resolution consenting to the deannexation of certain property from the City
of Bloomingdale to the City of Pooler for annexation, and approved the deannexation of certain property from the City of
Pooler to the City of Bloomingdale for annexation. Commissioner McMasters seconded the motion and it carried
unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioner Rivers was not present.]

============

3. REQUEST BOARD APPROVE THE CREATION OF THE FOLLOWING SIX NEW
POSITIONS AT THE JUVENILE COURT:

1 - JUVENILE COURT JUDGE
2 - ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT IV
1 - DEPUTY COURT CLERK I
2 - STAFF ATTORNEYS

Chairman Hair said, request board to approve the creation of the following four new positions at Juvenile Court: One
Juvenile Court Judge, two Administrative Assistant IV, and one Deputy Court Clerk I.  I’ll entertain a motion to approve.



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

13

Commissioner Thomas said, move for approve.  Chairman Hair asked, second?  Commissioner Kicklighter said, second.
Chairman Hair said, all those in favor vote yes, opposed vote no.  The motion carried unanimously. [NOTE:
Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present.] Chairman Hair said, the motion is approved.

Chairman Hair said, I’ll entertain a motion to table the two staff attorneys for two weeks until September 24th.
Commissioner Murray said, so moved.  Chairman Hair asked, second?  Commissioner Thomas said, second.  Chairman
Hair said, all those in favor vote yes, opposed vote no.  The motion carried unanimously. [NOTE: Commissioners Rivers
and Odell were not present.]  Chairman Hair said, the motion passes.

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner Thomas moved to approve the creation of the following four new positions at Juvenile Court: One (1)
Juvenile Court Judge, two (2) Administrative Assistant IV, and one (1) Deputy Court Clerk I. Commissioner Kicklighter
seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present.]

Commissioner Murray moved to table until the meeting of September 24, 2004, the request for the creation of the following
positions at Juvenile Court: Two (2) staff attorneys. Commissioner Thomas seconded the motion and it carried
unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present.] 

============

4. PUBLIC HEARING ON LOCAL LAW ENFORCEMENT BLOCK GRANT.

Chairman Hair said, now I will open the public hearing on the Local Law Enforcement Block Grant.  Is there anyone in the
audience that wants to speak to our Local Law Enforcement Block Grant that has been published?   Hearing none, I close
the hearing on the Local Law Enforcement Block Grant.

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Public hearing.  No action required by the Board.

============

X.  ACTION CALENDAR
(The Board can entertain one motion to adopt the below-listed calendar.  Such motion would mean adoption
of staff's recommendation.  Any Board Member may choose to pull an item from the calendar and it would be
considered separately.)

Chairman Hair said, that takes us to the Action Calendar.  The only item that’s been pulled off is Item #13 by Commissioner
McMasters.   Commissioner Murray said, pull 8 just to —, not to stop it, but I just want to make a comment on it.  Chairman
Hair said, you can make a comment on it.  (NOTE: Refer to Item #8 for comments.]

Chairman Hair said, okay, I’ll entertain a motion to approve the balance of the Action Calendar.  Commissioner McMasters
said, so moved.  Chairman Hair asked, second?  Commissioner Thomas said, second.  Chairman Hair said, all those in
favor vote yes, opposed vote no.  The motion carried unanimously. [NOTE: Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not
present.]  Chairman Hair said, the motion passes.

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner McMasters moved that the Action Calendar be approved in its entirety with the exception of Item 13.
Commissioner Thomas seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and Odell were
not present.]

[NOTE:  ACTION OF THE BOARD IS SHOWN ON EACH ITEM AS THOUGH AN INDIVIDUAL MOTION WAS MADE
THEREON.]

============

1. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES FOR THE PRE-MEETING AND REGULAR MEETING OF
AUGUST 27, 2004, AS MAILED.



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

14

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner McMasters moved to approve the minutes for the pre-meeting and regular meeting of August 27, 2004,
as mailed.  Commissioner Thomas seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and
Odell were not present.]

============

2. CLAIMS VS. CHATHAM COUNTY FOR THE PERIOD AUGUST 19 THROUGH
SEPTEMBER 1, 2004.

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner McMasters moved that the Finance Director is authorized to pay claims for the period August 19, 2004,
through September 1, 2004, in the amount of $3,205,539.   Commissioner Thomas seconded the motion and it carried
unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present.]

============

3. REQUEST FROM SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT FOR BOARD TO APPROVE THE
TRANSFER OF ONE K-9 VEHICLE AND TITLE (1998 FORD EXPEDITION “K-7") TO
EXCESS PROPERTY AND ONE NEW 2004 FORD EXPLORER “K-7" TO CHATHAM
COUNTY SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT.

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner McMasters moved to approve the transfer of one K-9 vehicle and title (1998 Ford Expedition “K-7") to the
Department of Public Safety, Excess Property, and the transfer of one new 2004 Ford Explorer “K-7" to Chatham County
Sheriff’s Department.  Commissioner Thomas seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners
Rivers and Odell were not present.]

============

4. REQUEST BOARD APPROVE REQUEST FOR EARLY ACQUISITION FROM ROBERT
TILKA AT 9009 WHITFIELD AVENUE DUE TO THE WIDENING PROJECT.
[DISTRICT 1.]

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner McMasters moved to approve the request from Robert Tilka for early acquisition of 9009 Whitfield Avenue
due to the Whitfield Avenue Widening Project.   Commissioner Thomas seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.
[NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present.] 

============

5. REQUEST FROM KERN-COLEMAN, ENGINEER FOR THE DEVELOPER, HERON CREST
DEVELOPERS, INC., FOR THE COUNTY TO ACCEPT THE DEDICATED
IMPROVEMENTS AND RELEASE THE REMAINING BOND FOR BETZ CREEK
PLANTATION, PHASES 6A AND 6B.
[DISTRICT 4.]

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner McMasters moved to approve the request from Kern-Coleman, engineer for the developer, Heron Crest
Developers, Inc., for the County to accept the dedicated improvements and release the remaining bond for Betz Creek
Plantation, Phases 6A and 6B.   Commissioner Thomas seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.  [NOTE:
Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present.]

============



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

15

6. REQUEST FROM HGBD, ENGINEER FOR GREENWAY DEVELOPERS, INC., TO INITIATE
THE WARRANTY PERIOD FOR COTTONVALE PLANTATION, PHASE 1.
[DISTRICT 7.]

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner McMasters moved to approve the request from Hussey, Gay, Bell and DeYoung (HGBD), engineer for
Greenway Developers, Inc., to initiate the warranty period for Cottonvale Plantation, Phase 1.   Commissioner Thomas
seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present.]

============

7. REQUEST FROM THOMAS & HUTTON, ENGINEER FOR THE DEVELOPER, GENESIS
DESIGNER HOMES, TO RECORD THE SUBDIVISION PLAT FOR STONEBRIDGE, PHASE
3, INITIATE THE WARRANTY PERIOD, ACCEPT THE SUBDIVISION AGREEMENT AND
FINANCIAL GUARANTEE AND RECOMBINE THIS PHASE INTO THE EXISTING
STREETLIGHT ASSESSMENT DISTRICT.
[DISTRICT 7.]

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner McMasters moved to approve the request from Thomas & Hutton, engineer for the developer, Genesis
Designer Homes, to record the subdivision plat for Stonebridge, Phase 3, initiate the warranty period, accept the
subdivision agreement and financial agreement and recombine this phase into the existing streetlight assessment district.
 Commissioner Thomas seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and Odell were
not present.] 

============

8. REQUEST BOARD APPROVE AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN
CHATHAM COUNTY AND THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH
AND CHATHAM COUNTY TO CONSTRUCT, MAINTAIN AND USE A POLICE PRECINCT
FOR THE SAVANNAH-CHATHAM COUNTY POLICE DEPARTMENT ON THE COASTAL
MIDDLE SCHOOL CAMPUS.
[DISTRICT 4.]

Commissioner Murray said, I just want the media especially to look at Item 8.  This is the start of the precinct that will be
going down on Whitemarsh Island and it would be if the general public knows that as part of the process we’re going
through with the merger of the police departments.

Chairman Hair said, there was actually an —, under Sean’s —, there was an article in this morning’s paper about this.
Commissioner Murray said, see, I don’t read the paper on Friday morning because I don’t want to influence how I vote.
Commissioner McMasters said, thought you could use a little more exposure.  Chairman Hair said, but it was —, it was
in there.  I give Sean [Harder] credit.  Commissioner Murray said, good.  I appreciate it.  I’ll read it when I get home.

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner McMasters moved to approve an intergovernmental agreement between Chatham County and the Board
of Education for the City of Savannah and Chatham County to construct, maintain and use a police precinct for the
Savannah-Chatham County Police Department on the Coastal Middle School campus.   Commissioner Thomas seconded
the motion and it carried unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present.] 

============

9. REQUEST BOARD APPROVE A REQUEST FOR COUNTY CONTRACT WITH THE
GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION TO PAVE PERKINS PLACE, YUCCA
PLACE AND MOBLEY STREET AND AUTHORIZE THE CHAIRMAN, COUNTY
ATTORNEY, COUNTY ENGINEER AND COUNTY CLERK TO SIGN THE FORMS
NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THE PROJECT.
[DISTRICT 4.]



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

16

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner McMasters moved to approve a request for a County contract with the Georgia Department of
Transportation (GDOT) to pave Perkins Place, Yucca Place and Mobley Street and authorize the Chairman, County
Attorney, County Engineer and County Clerk to sign the forms necessary to implement the project.   Commissioner Thomas
seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present.] 

============

10. REQUEST BOARD DECLARE AS SURPLUS A SUBSTANDARD-SIZED VACANT LOT IN
THE CITY OF SAVANNAH AT 0 JULIA LAW STREET (2600 BLOCK) AND AUCTION THE
COUNTY’S INTEREST IN THIS PROPERTY HELD BY TAX DEED.
[DISTRICT 8.]

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner McMasters moved to declare as surplus a substandard-sized vacant lot in the City of Savannah at 0 Julia
Law Street (2600 Block), described as “Lot 21, Block A, Ogeecheetown” (PIN 2-0636-17-004), and auction the County’s
interest in this property held by tax deed.   Commissioner Thomas seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.
[NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present.] 

============

11. REQUEST BOARD APPROVE FINAL SETTLEMENT WHICH MATCHES THE
SETTLEMENT OFFER BY THE CITY OF SAVANNAH REGARDING MARGARET BETZ V.
CHATHAM COUNTY AND CITY OF SAVANNAH, U.S. DISTRICT COURT CV 4:04-CV-087.

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner McMasters moved to approve the payment of $1,500 final settlement, which matches the settlement offer
by the City of Savannah, regarding Margaret Betz v. Chatham County and City of Savannah, U. S. District Court, CV4:04-
CV-087.  Commissioner Thomas seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and
Odell were not present.]

============

12. REQUEST BOARD APPROVE AN AMENDMENT TO THE TRIPLETT PARK MASTER
PLAN PHASE III.
[DISTRICT 7.]

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner McMasters moved to approve an amendment to the Triplett Park Master Plan, Phase III.   Commissioner
Thomas seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present.]

============

13. REQUEST BOARD APPROVAL TO UPDATE BY REVISION THE USE AGREEMENT FOR
THE TRADE CENTER WITH THE GEORGIA INTERNATIONAL AND MARITIME TRADE
CENTER AUTHORITY.

Chairman Hair recognized Commissioner McMasters.

Commissioner McMasters said, thank you.  Is this Pat’s [Monahan] area?  County Manager Abolt said, yes sir.  Chairman
Hair said, he’s here.  Mr. Pat Monahan said, I can probably address the questions along with the County Attorney.
Commissioner McMasters said, okay.  The reason I’m asking this is the issue of the ferryboats has been knocked around
a little bit and I was hoping that —, I asked for a time line from Scott Lansing and he’s left, but at what point, Pat [Monahan],
did the ferryboat project segue from the responsibility of the Trade Center Authority over to CAT?  Mr. Monahan said, I can’t
answer that question.  Commissioner McMasters asked, well, you provided me with an original ferryboat study in early
1999 that was commissioned by the Trade Center Authority, didn’t you?  Mr. Monahan said, right, and I think that was to
take a look at the —, just the basic parameters of how service would work, the potential numbers, the potential revenues,
the potential shortfalls.



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

17

Chairman Hair said, let me ask a question here.  I need to interrupt you, Commissioner McMasters.  I don’t think is
germane to this item.  This has nothing to do —, this is a real estate issue.  It has nothing to do with ferryboats.  If you want
to put that on the agenda for a future time.  I don’t think it’s germane to this motion.

Commissioner McMasters said, okay, okay.  Well, let’s put that on under my name for the next meeting, but let me continue
with my questions.  Chairman Hair said, absolutely.  Commissioner McMasters said, thank you.  Pat [Monahan], what is
the annual operating cost of the Trade Center.  Mr. Monahan said, I couldn’t tell you.  It’s not my responsibility.  That’s not
the responsibility of this Commission.  That’s specifically what this agreement sets out, that the Trade Center Authority
becomes responsible for operating and maintaining the property.  I don’t know the marketing budget, I just —, I can find
out for you and I’ll be happy to pass that along, but I couldn’t tell you off the top of my head.  Commissioner McMasters said,
here’s what I would like to receive.  I would like to receive the annual operating cost for the Trade Center for the past four
years and I’d also like to know what the revenue, event revenue, miscellaneous revenue for the same period of time is.
Mr. Monahan said, okay, I’ll pass that request along.  Commissioner McMasters said, okay, and if I could have that prior
to the next meeting, it may be helpful and useful to the issue that the Chairman wants me to advance forward.  So, there’s
a time frame request for it.  Mr. Monahan said, okay.  Commissioner McMasters said, thank you.

Chairman Hair said, I’ll entertain a motion to approve.  Commissioner McMasters said, so moved.  Chairman Hair asked,
second?  Commissioner Murray said, second.  Chairman Hair said, all those in favor vote yes, opposed vote no.   The
motion carried unanimously. [NOTE: Commissioners Rayno, Rivers and Odell were not present.] Chairman Hair said, the
motion passes.
 
ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner McMasters moved to approve the request to update by revision the Use Agreement for the Trade Center
with the Georgia International and Maritime Trade Center Authority.   Commissioner Murray seconded the motion and it
carried unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rayno, Rivers and Odell were not present.]

============

14. REQUEST BOARD APPROVAL TO DECLARE SURPLUS AND DONATE A 1984 PICKUP
TRUCK TO THE CITY OF SPRINGFIELD FOR THEIR VOLUNTEER FIRE DEPARTMENT.

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner McMasters moved to declare surplus and donate a 1984 Chevrolet pickup truck (1GCGD34J1EF308449)
to the City of Springfield for their volunteer fire department.   Commissioner Thomas seconded the motion and it carried
unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present.]

============

15. REQUEST FOR NEW BEER AND WINE RETAIL LICENSE FOR 2004.  PETITIONER:
SUKHMANI K. SINGH, D/B/A QUACCO OUTLET, LOCATED AT 10-D QUACCO ROAD.
[DISTRICT 7.]

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner McMasters moved to approve the petition of Sukhmani K. Singh, d/b/a Quacco Outlet, located at 10-D
Quacco Road, for a new beer and wine retail license for 2004.   Commissioner Thomas seconded the motion and it carried
unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present.]

============

16. REQUEST BOARD APPROVAL TO AWARD BIDS AS FOLLOWS:  (Please note that new
purchase thresholds of $10,000 or more have been enacted; however, contracts and change orders of
a lesser amount still will appear.)

ITEM DEPT. SOURCE AMOUNT FUNDING

A. Change Order No. 3 to the annual
contract to provide monthly pest control
services to add monthly service at the K-
9 Unit located at the Sheriff’s complex

Detention
Center

Ideal Pest Control,
Inc.

$660 General Fund/M&O -
Detention Center

B. Change Order No. 4 to the annual
contract to provide monthly pest control
services to add monthly service at three
Public Works buildings 

Public Works Ideal Pest Control,
Inc.

$780 SSD - Public Works



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

ITEM DEPT. SOURCE AMOUNT FUNDING

18

C. Change Order No. 2 to the annual
contract to provide various laser jet toner
cartridges or ribbons to recognize
manufacturer imposed price increases
on selected items

Various Media South, Inc. Varies by
item

•General Fund/M&O -
Various
•SSD - Various

D. Change Order No. 1 to the annual
contract to provide various paper and
chemical products to recognize manu-
facturer imposed price increases on
selected items

Various Paper Chemical
Supply Company
of Savannah
(WBE)

Varies by
item

•General Fund/M&O -
Various
•SSD - Various

E. Contract to provide consultant
services to develop a Comprehensive
Continuity Plan (CCP) for CEMA

CEMA Dewberry and
Davis, LLP

$140,565 CEMA (Office of
Domestic
Preparedness Grant)

F. Two (2) network supervisor boards ICS Cisco Systems
(sole source)

$34,039.50 CIP - NetPlan

G. Six (6) month agreement for trans-
porting and delivery of election
equipment to various polling sites

Board of
Elections

Lee Wright, LLC $120 per
site

General Fund/M&O -
Elections Board

H. Engineering services contract for the
design/project management of the
Chatham County Parking Garage
repairs

Facilities
Maintenance
and
Operations

RWP Engineering,
Inc.

$14,500 Parking Garage
Enterprise Fund

I. Engineering services contract for the
concept development plan for the
Islands Expressway/Causton Bluff
Bridge replacement

SPLOST The LPA Group $98,928 SPLOST (2003-
2008) - Islands
Expressway/Causton
Bluff High Level
Bridge

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner McMasters moved to approve Items 16-A through 16-I.  Commissioner Thomas seconded the motion and
it carried unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present.]

============

XI.  FIRST READINGS

Proposed changes to ordinances must be read or presented in written form at two meetings held not less than
one week apart.  A vote on the following listed matters will occur at the next regularly scheduled meeting.

Comments, discussion and debate from members of the public will be received only at the meeting at which a
vote is to be taken on one of the following listed items.

None.

============

XII.  SECOND READINGS

None.
============

XIII.  INFORMATION CALENDAR

1. PROGRESS REPORT ON GENERAL FUND CONTINGENCY ACCOUNT - M&O AND THE
SPECIAL SERVICE DISTRICT (SEE ATTACHED).

ACTION OF THE BOARD:



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

19

A written report was received as information.

============

2. LIST OF PURCHASING ITEMS BETWEEN $2,500 AND $9,999 (SEE ATTACHED).

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

A written report was received as information.

AGENDA ITEM:     XIII-2        
DATE: September 10, 2004

List of Purchasing Items between $2,500 and $9,999
That Do Not Require Board Approval

ITEM DEPT. SOURCE AMOUNT FUNDING

Design and install audio
system for a training
facility

Whitemarsh Island
Community Center

Remote
Technology,
Inc.

$4,129 General Fund/M & O -
Whitemarsh Island
Community Center

Re-roof back building to
include roof carpentry
and waterproofing
HVAC ducting and
curbs

Gateway House Doctor $9,500 CIP - Gateway

Purchase and installation
of two office
workstations

Finance VIP Office
Supply (WBE)

$7,189.20 •SSD - Police -
$3,594.60
•General Fund/M & O -
Finance - $3,594.60

Installation of new
sewer lateral at 7320
Albert Street

Water and Sewer Savannah
River Utilities
Company

$4,850 Water and Sewer Fund

Maintenance repair
parts for grinder

Solid Waste Smoracy (sole
source)

$6,425.38 Solid Waste

Annual maintenance on
five Xerox printers

ICS Xerox
Corporation
(sole source)

$3,626.68 General Fund/M & O -
ICS

Six months maintenance
agreement on the
Criminal Justice
Application software

ICS Papcon (sole
source)

$3,000 General Fund/M & O -
ICS

Eight (8) 17" LCD
monitors for Police
dispatch

ICS Dartek, Inc. $3,809.00 General Fund/M & O -
Communications

4,000 printed file folders State Court Clerk System
Business
Forms

$3,763.50 General Fund/M & O -
State Court Clerk

Maintenance on scanner Superior Court
Clerk

Decision One
Corporation

$2,895 Escrow - Superior Court
Clerk

One (1) riding mower Mosquito Control Andy’s Lawn
Machinery

$6,792.25 General Fund/M & O -
Mosquito Control

Navigation completion
system

Mosquito Control Ag-Nav, Inc. $5,906.50 General Fund/M & O -
Mosquito Control

Helicopter landing dolly Mosquito Control C.J.
Fabrication,
Inc.

$3,895 General Fund/M & O -
Mosquito Control



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

ITEM DEPT. SOURCE AMOUNT FUNDING

20

Purchase and installation
of carpet in the
administration area and
six offices

Detention Center Moores Floor
Covering

$4,434.23 General Fund/M & O -
Detention Center

Professional services for
outside audit services

Tax Commissioner Karp Ronning
and Tindol,
PC

$3,510 General Fund/M & O -
Tax Commissioner

Two (2) Motorola
radios with chargers

Public Works and
Park Services

Motorola (sole
source)

$4,948 General Fund/M & O -
Park Services

Repair parts for Rhino
mower

Public Works and
Park Services

Honda of
Statesboro

$5,765.22 SSD - Public Works

Annual maintenance on
eight copy machines

Court
Administrator

Automated
Business
Resources,
Inc. (sole
source)

$2,918.22 General Fund/M & O -
Court Administrator

Annual maintenance of
Dictation Wordnet
recording system

E-911 Deca, Inc. $9,510 E-911

Provide concept report
copies to GDOT for use
in completing concept
meeting and participate
in concept meeting in
Macon 

SPLOST Thomas &
Hutton
Engineering

Not to
exceed
$9,000

SPLOST (1985-1993) -
SR307 - US17 to I16

Produce construction
plans and technical
specifications for
intersection improve-
ments at King George
Blvd/Red Fox

SPLOST Thomas &
Hutton
Engineering

Not to
exceed
$9,700

SPLOST (1985-1993) -
Intersection
Improvements

Purchase and installation
of chain link fence and
reconnect to existing
fence 

SPLOST Ram
Wholesale
Fence, Inc.

$5,727 SPLOST (1993-1998) -
Runaway Point Park

Material, labor and
equipment to install five
pipe crossing
enhancements

SPLOST T Clearing $3,140 SPLOST (1998-2003) -
Hardin Canal

Professional services to
include SEPCO right-
of-way revisions

SPLOST Thomas &
Hutton
Engineering

Not to
exceed
$9,000

SPLOST (1998-2003) -
Hardin Canal

Determine size and type
of a new culvert or
bridge under the CSX
railroad on Little Hurst
Canal

SPLOST Integrated
Science and
Engineering,
Inc.

Not to
exceed
$9,940

SPLOST (1998-2003) -
Little Hurst Canal

Modify Phase I wetland
permit drawings to
reflect a reduction in
channel width from 40ft
to 30ft and a gravel
maintenance road on
one side of the canal
and a maintenance
access on the other side
of the canal

SPLOST Thomas &
Hutton
Engineering

Not to
exceed
$8,500

SPLOST (1998-2003) -
Hardin Canal



FRIDAY SEPTEMBER 10 2004

21

============

EXECUTIVE SESSION

Upon motion being made by Commissioner Murray, seconded by Commissioner Thomas and unanimously approved, the
Board recessed at 10:57 a.m., to go into Executive Session for the purpose of discussing litigation and land acquisition.

Following adjournment of the Executive Session, the meeting of the Board of Commissioners was reconvened at
11:25 a.m.

============

ITEMS FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION

1. REQUEST BOARD APPROVE THE SETTLEMENT OF THE CLAIM OF ROBERT
McCLELAN (JON HART).

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner Thomas moved to approve settlement of the claim of Robert McClelan in the amount of $6,000.
Commissioner Murray seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.  [NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and Odell were
not present.]    

============

2. REQUEST BOARD APPROVE A MOTION TO AUTHORIZE THE CHAIRMAN TO EXECUTE
AN AFFIDAVIT THAT THE EXECUTIVE SESSION WAS HELD IN COMPLIANCE WITH
THE OPEN MEETINGS ACT.

ACTION OF THE BOARD:

Commissioner Kicklighter moved to authorize the Chairman to execute an affidavit that the Executive Session was held
in compliance with the Open Meetings Law. Commissioner Thomas seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.
[NOTE:  Commissioners Rivers and Odell were not present.]

============

ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business to be brought before the Board, Chairman Hair declared the meeting adjourned at
11:26 a.m.

============

APPROVED:  THIS                DAY OF                               , 2004

                                                                                                 
DR. BILLY B. HAIR, CHAIRMAN, BOARD OF          

COMMISSIONERS OF CHATHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

                                                                                                 
SYBIL E. TILLMAN, COUNTY CLERK                 


